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MVEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Ronal d R Lagueux, United States District Judge.

The matter before the Court is a notion filed by Petitioner,
Jerry Lee Robertson, to vacate, set aside, or correct sentence
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2255. In the notion filed on or about
January 9, 2001, Petitioner makes four clains.

1. That his counsel was ineffective because counsel failed
to advise himthat he had a right to refrain fromtestifying.

2. That his counsel was ineffective because counse
elicited informati on about Petitioner’s two prior felony
convictions during his direct testinony.

3. That the decision in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U. S

466 (2000) requires that sentenci ng enhancenents for obstruction
of justice and firearm possession be presented to a jury and
guilt determ ned beyond a reasonabl e doubt.

4. That the decision in Apprendi requires the anmunt of
drugs to be stated in the indictnent and proven beyond a

reasonabl e doubt in order for the Court to have jurisdiction over



the nmatter.

BACKGROUND FACTS

On Cctober 8, 1997, a grand jury in the District of Rhode
I sland indicted Petitioner on two counts. The first was for
possessing heroin with intent to distribute within 1000 feet of a
school, 21 U S. C. 88 841(a)(1l) and 860(a); and, the second, for
possessing a firearmafter a previous felony conviction, 18
US C 8 922(g)(1). Petitioner was found guilty of both counts
on June 26, 1998 after a jury trial. On Septenber 23, 1998, he
was sentenced to 137 nonths of inprisonnent, 6 years of
supervi sed rel ease, no fine, and a special assessnent of $100 on
Count 1. On Count 2, this Court inposed a concurrent sentence of
120 nmonths of inprisonment (the statutory nmaxi mun), 3 years of
supervi sed rel ease to be served concurrently, no fine, and a
speci al assessnent of $100.

Petitioner tinely appealed. Hs primary claimwas that the
Court erred by failing to give himprior notice of its intent to
i npose a two-|evel upward adjustnment for obstruction of justice
pursuant to U S.S.G 8§ 3Cl.1; and for failing to state on the
record findings in support of its decision to inpose that two-
| evel adjustnment for obstruction of justice. In a supplenental
brief, Petitioner contested the sufficiency of the affidavit in
support of the search warrant, contended that the evidence was

insufficient to convict, clainmed that the Court’s instructions to



the jury were flawed, and argued that the guidelines’

cal cul ations were inaccurate and the Court was not justified in
departing upward on the Crimnal H story Category. He did not
contend that the indictnent was defective in any way. |n an
unpubl i shed opi nion dated June 24, 1999, the First Crcuit
affirmed both the conviction and the sentence inposed.
Petitioner then filed a petition for a wit of certiorari wth
the U S. Supreme Court on or about Novenber 29, 1999. That was

deni ed on January 10, 2000. Robertson v. United States, 528 U. S.

1095 (2000).

FACTS PROVED AT TRI AL

On Septenber 10, 1997, at approximately 4:30 p.m Detectives
Larry Lepore, Peter Rocchio, M chael Long, Sergeant Ni chol as
Cardarelli and other officers of the Providence Police Departnent
went to the first floor apartnment at 221 Mount Pl easant Avenue
for the purpose of executing a search warrant. The officers were
able to enter through an open front door. Two people were found
in the living roomand they were watched as officers checked the
rest of the apartnment. Detective Lepore went into the master
bedroom and found Petitioner and Bernice Torres on the bed. They
were watching tel evision or playing video ganes on the TV.
(6/22/98 Tr. at 35, 40, 41, 69-71, 107-108).

Both Petitioner and Torres were secured in the living room

along with the other two. The officers then began a search of



the apartnment. Detective Lepore searched the bedroom The
headboard for the bed had shelves and mrrored doors. On a shelf
in the headboard, he found a plastic bag containing slightly |ess
than 25 granms of heroin. On another shelf, on the sane side of

t he headboard, he found a .44 caliber Sturm Ruger, nodel

Bl ackhawk revol ver, serial nunber 46-34002. On top of the
headboard, Detective Lepore found nine gl assi ne bags of heroin.

El sewhere in the bedroom Detective Lepore found a NYNEX bill and
a Narragansett Electric bill with Petitioner’s nane on them
listing the Mount Pl easant Avenue address. He also seized a
mai l er for a NYNEX calling card, a rubber stanp and a Mdtorol a
pager. The rubber stanp had a skull or death’s head wearing a
top hat with the words “THE BOSS’ underneath. (6/22/98 Tr. at 72-
82, 105-110, 114-118, 120-121).

Det ecti ve Rocchi o searched the living room In a closet, he
found $2,500 hidden in the bag area of a vacuumcleaner. 1In the
sanme cl oset, he found a box which held four cellular phones.
(6/22/98 Tr. at 31-35, 39, 45, 50-56).

The | andlord, Matthew Cote, testified that he owned the
house at 221 Mount Pl easant Avenue. He identified Petitioner as
t he individual who rented the first floor apartnment. According
to Cote, Petitioner was the only tenant of that apartnent.
Petitioner had no witten | ease and rented on a nonth to nonth

basis. Cote testified that Petitioner was the only one who paid



the rent and that he paid in cash. (6/22/98 Tr. at 26-28).

| sabella Lee testified that she was the principal of George
West School. She stated that it was | ocated between Munt
Pl easant Avenue, Roanoke Street and Beaufort Street. Ms. Lee
confirmed that CGeorge West was a school within the Providence
public school system She also testified that the iron railings
surroundi ng the school were on school property. (6/22/98 Tr. at
24-25) .

Li eut enant Kenneth Cohen of the Provi dence Police Departnent
testified that he measured the distance from 221 Munt Pl easant
Avenue to the iron railing around George West School. That
di stance was reported as approximtely 338 feet. (6/23/98 Tr. at
24-27) .

O ficer Kenneth Vinacco testified that he was an arnorer
with the Providence Police Departnent. His duties included
testing firearms and determning their origin. Oficer Vinacco
testified that the .45 caliber Sturm Ruger Bl ackhawk revol ver
functioned as a firearmand was manufactured in Connecti cut.
(6/23/98 Tr. at 29-33).

M chael Liberto, a chem st with the Rhode I|sland Depart nment
of Health, testified about the analysis and weight of the seized
drugs. He confirned that the drugs were heroin. The |arge bag
wei ghed 24.87 granms and ei ght of the nine glassine packets

wei ghed 0.15 granms in aggregate. The contents of the ninth



gl assi ne packet had been consuned during testing. (6/23/98 Tr.
at 41-61).

Detective Lepore testified as an expert witness. He stated
that it was his opinion that the heroin possession in this case
was nore consistent with distribution than personal use. He
based his opinion on the anmount of heroin being in excess of that
normal Iy held by individuals for personal use, the presence of
t he ni ne gl assi ne packets none of which were stanped with a | ogo
or trademark, the presence of the $2,500 hidden in the vacuum
cl eaner, the pager and four cellular tel ephones, the presence of
the firearm and the rubber stanp with the skull, top hat and
‘THE BOSS' on it. (6/22/98 Tr. at 86-88, 92-95).

Detective Lepore further testified that he did not find any
of the paraphernalia his training and experience have led himto
expect to find when heroin is held for personal use. Detective
Lepore testified that, in his experience, heroin users did not
possess 25 grans at one tinme. Nor did they buy in bulk. He
indicated that the street value of the heroin was approxi mately
$3,000. Detective Lepore testified that the usual anobunt bought
by a user woul d be an individual glassine packet such as those
sei zed. Each packet is sold for approximately $10. (6/22/98 Tr.
at 83, 87, 90-92; 6/23/98 Tr. at 22-23).

Petitioner stipulated that he had a prior felony conviction.

Bernice Torres testified for the defense. She said that she



had net Petitioner sonetine during the sumrer of 1997 and began
to see himnot long after that. Petitioner told her that he sold
cars, but the only car she had seen hi mwork on was her own.
Torres testified that she began to spend one or two nights a week
with Petitioner about the tine he noved into the apartnent at 221
Mount Pl easant Avenue. She clainmed that she kept sonme personal
items on the left side of the headboard. She did this because
Petitioner respected her privacy and did not go into that side of
t he headboard. (6/23/98 Tr. at 72-76, 91-92, 102).

Sonetinme during the summer of 1996, according to her
testi nony, she was outside of her apartnent when a man she did
not know asked her if she wanted to buy a gun. Torres said that
because she thought the gun m ght be an anti que, she bought it
for $40.00 with the hope that it would increase in val ue.
(6/23/98 Tr. at 109-111).

Labor Day weekend 1997, she stayed at Petitioner’s apartnent
while he was in Virginia. She took the gun there and put it in
her side of the headboard on a shelf. She never told himthe gun
was there. As for the bag of heroin, Torres said that she had
found it in clothing belonging to Petitioner. Wen she
gquestioned himabout it, he told her that he used it to enhance
hi s sexual performance. She expressed her di sapproval, took the
bag fromhimand put it on her side of the headboard. Torres

said she had never seen Petitioner use or sell drugs. (6/23/98



Tr. at 98-104, 111).

On Septenber 10th, when Petitioner was arrested, Torres saw
the police take the gun and did not tell themit was hers because
she was frightened. The pager that was seized was hers as well;
however, she did not tell the police that either. (6/23/98 Tr.
at 95, 113-114; 6/24/98 Tr. at 7-10).

On cross examnation Torres testified that she had never
owned any other firearns. Despite purchasing this one as an
i nvestment, she never checked with anyone as to its value. She
had never fired a gun nor did she have bullets for this one. She
al so did not know the man from whom she cl ai ned to have purchased
the gun. She left the revolver at Petitioner’s apartnment when
she went hone after the Labor Day weekend. She clained to have
seen Petitioner talk to three others about their cars or do sone
work on them She never saw himat a place of work. She
testified that she never saw any signs that Petitioner used
drugs. Although she was upset that he had been arrested, she
never said anything to the police or to the governnment about the
gun being hers. (6/24/98 Tr. at 11-14, 16-22).

Petitioner also testified. He said that he had noved into
the apartnent at 221 Mount Pl easant Avenue a coupl e of nonths
prior to his arrest. He paid his rent and all of his bills in
cash. He did not keep his noney in any bank account. He kept

his noney in various hiding places in his apartnent including the



refrigerator and the vacuumcleaner. He stated that, at the tine
of his arrest, he kept $3,000 in the vacuumin three $1, 000

bundl es. He clainmed that he had received just under $15,000 in
proceeds froma real estate transaction in August 1996 for
property he had owned in Louisiana. He admtted that no one el se
lived in the apartnment with him (6/24/98 Tr. at 47-49, 60-66).

Petitioner clained that he nmade his |iving buying cars,
fixing themup and then selling themfor a profit. Oten he
woul d buy cars fromC & L Auto, make a down paynent, and pay the
bal ance on the car after he sold it. He testified that he was
not good at reading and witing. He did not keep a | ot of
paperwork on his transactions. He clainmed to have nade
approximately $11,000 fromcar sales in recent nonths. (6/24/98
Tr. at 51-59, 69-74, 130-131).

Petitioner clainmed that after he becane intimate with
Torres, he began experiencing certain sexual difficulties. He
said he spoke to a friend, whose nane he did not know, who told
hi mthat snorting heroin before sex woul d enhance his sexual
performance. Based on that advice he began using heroin and
becane addicted. (6/24/98 Tr. at 86-88, 123-124).

On Septenber 10th, he had 9 gl assi ne packets of heroin on
top of the headboard. According to his testinony, he got up
before Torres that day, went out, and bought the bag of heroin

whi ch was recovered fromthe headboard. Petitioner reiterated



what Torres said, i.e., that she found the bag of heroin and,
after an argunent, she took it fromhim He testified that he
had never sold heroin. (6/24/98 Tr. at 93-98).

Petitioner also testified that he had never seen the gun
before it was found by the Providence Police on Septenber 10th.
Petitioner admtted that he had a prior conviction for being a
felon in possession of a firearmand that he had a conviction for
conspiracy to distribute narcotics. He clainmed that he got the
cellul ar phones froma friend in the construction busi ness.
(6/24/98 Tr. at 101-104, 109).

On cross examnation Petitioner admtted that his conviction
for conspiracy to distribute narcotics involved 19.2 grans of
heroin. He stated that he first began to use heroin in the
summer of 1997. He could not identify his source and only said
he bought it fromsome guy on Broad Street. (6/24/98 Tr. at 113-
114, 116, 118).

Petitioner said he bought heroin in “granf anmounts a couple
of tinmes and that, at one point, he bought a “brown” — 5 bundles
of 10 gl assi ne packets — for $130 or $140. He stated that he
only knew it was called a “brown” because Detective Lepore had
described it during his testinony. He clained that the *brown”
| ast ed about 2% days. He also clainmed that he becane addicted to
heroi n and becane sick unless he took it every day. He testified

that he took 8 gl assine packets at a tine. (6/24/98 Tr. at 118-

10



124, 137-141, 146-147).

Petitioner clainmed he bought and sold cars for a living and
that at the tinme of his arrest he owned seven cars. He could not
state how nmuch noney he nmade on average per year from car sales.
He stated that he did not file taxes and so did not declare his
income fromcar sales. He clained to have records supporting his
car sales but did not produce them (6/24/98 Tr. at 51-52, 125-
135, 141-144).

Petitioner clainmed that after his arrest he went through
heroin withdrawal. He told the court and jury that he did this
by hinself w thout help fromanyone. He could not nane a single
person who saw himsuffering fromw thdrawal. (6/24/98 Tr. at
124-125, 140-141).

On rebuttal, the governnent called Detective Lepore who
testified that he had observed and spoken with heroin addicts who
used eight or nore packets a day. They were typically unkenpt,
| acked personal hygi ene, and were focused on their addiction to
t he exclusion of other pursuits. He testified that Petitioner
did not exhibit any signs of heroin addiction on Septenber 10t h.
(6/25/98 Tr. at 3-5, 7-9).

The jury found Petitioner guilty of both counts as charged.

PRESENTENCE REPORT

The Presentence Report (PSR) enpl oyed the Novenber 1, 1997

version of the sentencing guidelines. Paragraph 13, of the PSR

11



noted the governnent’s reconmendati on, contained in the
prosecution version, that the Court should consider applying a
two- | evel upward adjustnent under U. S.S.G § 3Cl.1 for
obstruction of justice based on the testinony of both Petitioner
and his girlfriend, Ms. Torres. The probation officer did not
include the adjustnent in his calculation, instead | eaving that
decision to the Court. PSR at 6-7,  13.

The probation officer made the guidelines calculation as
follows. Under U S.S.G § 2D1.1(a)(3), the base offense |eve
was 18 predicated on a total anount of heroin of between 20 and
40 grans. Two |levels were added for the firearm possession and
an additional two |evels were added because the offense took
pl ace near a school. U S S. G 88 2D1.1(b)(1) and 2D1.2(a)(1).
The total offense level for count 1 was 22. PSR at 7-8, 1 16-
24.

Count 2 was assigned a base offense level of 20. US. S. G 8§
2K2.1(a)(4) (A). Because the probation officer found that the
firearm had been possessed in connection with another felony
of fense, 4 |levels were added under 8 2K2.1(b)(5). This yielded a
total offense level of 24 for count 2. The counts were conbi ned
into one group under U.S.S.G 8 3Dl1.2(c). The higher offense
| evel of 24 was used as the conbined of fense | evel pursuant to §
3D1. 3(a). PSR at 8-9, Y 26-35.

The probation officer determ ned that Petitioner had 5

12



crimnal history points which placed himat a CGtimnal H story
Category (CHC) I111. PSR at 9-11, 9 36-48. The probation
officer also noted that at the time of the instant offenses, he
had two outstanding warrants, one in Massachusetts and one in
Loui siana. PSR at 12, 1Y 50-51.

The offense |l evel of 24 coupled with a CHC Il yielded a
gui deline range of 63 to 78 nonths. The probation officer noted
that as Petitioner was on bail at the tinme he conmmtted these
of fenses, the Court m ght wish to consider whether an upward
departure was warranted. He further noted that, given
Petitioner’s prior record, the Court mght wsh to consider
whether a CHC Il adequately reflected his propensity to commt
further crinmes. PSR at 18, {1 87-88.

Petitioner filed a nunber of objections to the PSR  Most
anounted to a reiteration that his testinony at trial was
truthful, as was that of Ms. Torres, and that he should receive a
reduction for acceptance of responsibility. Further, because he
had testified truthfully, no adjustment for obstruction of
justice was warranted. Addendumto PSR at I1-111.

The probation officer did not find any of Petitioner’s
argunent s persuasive. Addendumto PSR at |V-Vi

SENTENCI NG HEARI NG

Petitioner appeared before this Court for sentencing on

Septenber 23, 1998. As he had filed a notion for newtrial, pro

13



se, the Court disposed of that matter prior to beginning the
sentencing hearing. Wile explaining the denial of the notion,

this witer noted that both Petitioner and Torres had |ied during

the trial. The Court stated:
Before we get to sentencing, a notion for a new trial
was filed by the defendant pro se and I will dispose of
that very quickly. | deny that notion for two reasons:
Nunber (1), it’s untinely; and secondly, it has no
merit whatsoever. | amsatisfied that the credible

evidence in this case justifies conviction of this

def endant’ s possession of heroin with intent to
distribute it and possession of a firearmafter a
previ ous conviction of a felony. H's testinony that he
was addicted to heroin, and bought this heroin for
personal use, is unbelievable and incredible, and an
outright bald-faced lie. The testinony of his girl
friend, Mss Torres, that she bought the gun and
brought it over there, and that she never told him
about it, and his testinony that he knew not hi ng about
that gun, are both bald-faced lies, and | intend, at
sentencing, to increase the total offense |level for
obstruction of justice, perjury by both of those

W tnesses during this trial. The jurors saw right
through it, and I saw right through it, and the jury
cane to a just result in this case. The defendant is
guilty on both counts, and the notion for a new trial
is therefore denied.

(9/23/98 Tr. at 2-3).

The Court then gave defense counsel an opportunity to
address the objections Petitioner had to the PSR Petitioner’s
counsel specifically addressed the issue of obstruction, arguing
that neither Petitioner nor Torres had lied during their
testimony. Counsel also argued that Petitioner should receive
credit for acceptance of responsibility. (9/23/98 Tr. at 5-7).

The governnent reiterated its position that the Court should

14



enhance the sentence based on the fal se testi nony and opposed the
adj ustnrent for acceptance of responsibility. (9/23/98 Tr. at 3-
4,7).

The Court found that the offense | evel of 24 cal cul ated by
the probation officer for count 2 applied, and adding 2 | evels
for obstruction of justice, yielded a total offense |evel of 26.
The Court then ruled that Petitioner had not accepted
responsibility and so no downward adj ustnent for that was
warranted. The Court also found that CHC |11 under-represented
Petitioner’s crimnal history because Petitioner had two
outstanding warrants at the tinme he commtted the instant offense
and as such, an upward departure was warranted. The Court
i ncreased Petitioner’s CHC by two | evels, one for each
out standing warrant. Thus the offense |evel of 26 coupled with
CHC V yielded a guideline range of 100 to 137 nonths. Petitioner
was sentenced to 137 nonths of inprisonnent as to count 1 and 120
nmont hs on count 2 to be served concurrently. (9/23/98 Tr. at 7-
9, 19-20).

THE LAW GOVERNI NG MOTI ONS UNDER 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2255

Section 2255 provides in pertinent part:

A prisoner in custody under sentence of a court
established by Act of Congress claimng the right to be
rel eased upon the ground that the sentence was i nposed
in violation of the Constitution or |laws of the United
States, or that the court was without jurisdiction to

i npose such sentence, or that the sentence was in
excess of the maxi mum aut horized by law, or is

ot herwi se subject to collateral attack, nay nove the

15



court which inposed the sentence to vacate, set aside
or correct the sentence.

A notion under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2255 is a substitute for habeas
corpus. Relief is available under this section only if the sane

relief is available under the wit. HIll v. United States, 368

U S. 424, 427 (1962). The grounds justifying relief under § 2255
are limted. Section 2255 does not grant to a defendant the
right to retry cases in which he has been adjudged guilty.

Taylor v. United States, 177 F.2d 194, 195 (4th G r. 1949).

In United States v. Addonizio, 442 U. S. 178, 184-85 (1979),

t he Suprene Court stated:

It has, of course, |long been settled |aw that an error
that may justify reversal on direct appeal wll not
necessarily support a collateral attack on a final

j udgment .

: [Unless the claimalleges a | ack of
jurisdiction or constitutional error, the scope of
collateral attack has remained far nore limted. The
Court has held that an error of |aw does not provide a
basis for collateral attack unless the clainmed error
constituted “a fundanmental defect which inherently
results in a conplete mscarriage of justice.”

Simlar limtations apply with respect to cl ai ned
errors of fact.

Id. (quoting H Il 368 U S. at 428) (citations omtted). See

also, Davis v. United States, 417 U S. 333, 346 (1974).

A collateral attack may not do service for an appeal

United States v. Frady, 456 U S. 152, 165 (1982); Dirring v.

United States, 370 F.2d 862, (1st 865 Cr. 1967). To obtain

collateral relief, a prisoner nust clear a significantly higher

16



hurdl e than woul d exi st on a direct appeal. The standard of
review of a 8§ 2255 notion for alleged trial errors to which no
cont enpor aneous obj ection was made is not the plain error
standard, but the cause and actual prejudice standard. Frady,
456 U. S. at 166-67. A defendant cannot raise issues in a federal
habeas proceeding that he failed to raise at trial or on direct
appeal absent a show ng of cause for the failure and a show ng of

prejudice. Brache v. United States, 165 F.3d 99, 102 (1st Cr

1999) .

THE LAW APPLI CABLE TO AN | NEFFECTI VE ASSI STANCE CLAI M

In considering the issue of effective representation, the
District Court nust first identify the acts or om ssions of

counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U S. 668, 690 (1984).

The Court should then determ ne whether these “acts or om ssions
were outside the wide range of professionally conpetent
assistance” and, if so, whether the error affected the judgnent.
Id. Counsel’s representation nmust fall bel ow an objective
standard of reasonabl eness, and the defendant nust show
prejudice. 1d. at 687-88, 693. There nust be a reasonable
probability that but for the attorney’s unprofessional errors the
result would be different. [d. at 694. There is a strong
presunption that counsel’s conduct was wthin the w de range of
reasonabl e professional assistance. |d. at 689. The effective

assi stance of counsel standard does not require the “usel ess
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charade” of presenting a neritless defense. United States v.

Cronic, 466 U. S. 648, 656-57 n.19 (1984). Counsel need not junp
t hrough every concei vabl e hoop, or engage in futile exercises.

United States v. Pellerito, 878 F.2d 1535, 1540 (1st Cr. 1989).

The defendant is entitled to an effective defense, not a perfect

one nor a successful one. Scarpa v. Dubois, 38 F.3d 1, 8 (1st

Cr. 1994). The attorney’s judgnment need not be right so |long as

it is reasonable. United States v. MG IIl, 11 F. 3d 223, 227 (1st

Cir. 1993). A reviewng court should not use the benefit of
hi ndsi ght to second-guess tactical decisions nmade by an attorney

unl ess the deci sions are unreasonabl e. Perron v. Perrin, 742

F.2d 669, 673 (1st Cr. 1984)(citing Strickland, 466 U S. at

689) .
DI SCUSSI ON

Having failed with his blunderbuss attack on the verdict and
sentence on appeal, Petitioner now resorts to the all-too-
famliar jail-house |l awer tactic of attacking the performance of
his trial counsel. The result is predictable. Al of
Petitioner’s clains are without nmerit. They will be discussed in
t he order presented.

Ri ght Not to Testify

Petitioner contends that his attorney was ineffective
because he failed to informhimthat he had a right to remain

silent at trial. Petitioner clains that counsel failed to
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di scuss this option with himor “the strategy in remaining silent
as oppose (sic) to testifying and the consequences of
testifying.” Petitioner further clains that the information he
presented in his testinony could have been presented by his other
w tness, Ms. Torres. He also faults counsel for failing to tel
himthat by testifying, he opened the door concerning his prior
convictions. Perhaps nost inportantly, Petitioner clains that
his counsel failed to warn himthat if his testinony was found to
be false, he could be assessed extra puni shnent for obstruction
of justice. These contentions cannot forma basis for the
granting of his notion.

A cursory review of Petitioner’s record shows that, in
addition to this conviction, he has two prior felony convictions.
On February 29, 1989, Petitioner was convicted in the Rhode
| sl and Superior Court after a plea of nolo contendere to a charge
of conspiracy to violate the Controll ed Substances Act. As a
precursor to that plea he was advised of his rights, including
his right against self incrimnation and his right not to
testify, if he chose to do so. See Request to Enter a Pl ea of
Nol o Cont endere, case P2/89-0446 in Providence Superior Court.

On March 15, 1991, Petitioner was sentenced after pleading
guilty to being a felon in possession of a firearm in violation
of 18 U.S.C. §8 922(9g) (1), by Judge Pettine of this Court. The

Rul e 11 colloquy has long contained a recitation of the rights
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wai ved upon a plea of guilty which includes the waiver of the
right to remain silent. This Court nust presume that such an
inquiry was made at the time Petitioner entered his plea of
guilty before Judge Pettine.

Most inportantly, this Court discussed this issue at the
outset of the trial in the prelimnary instructions to the jury.
Petitioner was present when the jury was instructed as foll ows:

When the governnent has concl uded the presentation of
its case through counsel, it will rest, and then the
def endant has an opportunity to go forward. The

def endant has several choices at that point. The

def endant can choose to rest immedi ately and offer no
evidence at all and argue to you that the Governnent
has failed to prove its case beyond a reasonabl e doubt.
The defendant can choose to put on evidence and make an
openi ng statenent to you through counsel, and can

choose not to take the w tness stand. | f the defendant
chooses not to take the witness stand, the defendant
cannot be held to a burden of proof in the case. 1In

ot her words, you can draw no inference adverse to the

def endant because he chooses to exercise his

constitutional right not to testify. . . . The

def endant can choose to take the w tness stand and

of fer other evidence, in which case you treat him as

any other witness. Deternmine his credibility as any

ot her w tness.
(6/22/98 Tr. at 7-8). In addition, Petitioner was present when
the jury was inpanelled. At that time the Court advised the
whol e panel that in order to serve as a juror in a crimnal case,
the juror chosen nust accept the proposition that a defendant has
aright not to testify, and if that right is exercised, no
adverse inference can be drawn against him Therefore,

Petitioner knew that he had a right not to testify at trial and
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his contention to the contrary is just as disingenuous as the
testinony he gave at trial.

Li kew se, his claimthat he did not know he could suffer
sone penalty for testifying falsely is incredible. Merely taking
the oath prefatory to testifying infornms a witness that truthful
testinmony is expected. That the untruthful w tness may not be
aware of the exact penalty to be suffered does not nean that he
is unaware of the prohibition against fal se testinony.

Whet her and to what extent counsel had such a discussion
with Petitioner is irrelevant. Petitioner knew he had the right
not to testify and if he chose to testify and gave fal se
testinony there could be a serious penalty. It is not necessary
for the Court to conduct an evidentiary hearing on this point
given the clear facts on the record.

Petitioner also contends that nmuch of the information he
w shed to present could have cone in through his wtness, M.
Torres. He msses the mark here as well. The Court recalls
Petitioner’s prem se that he used the heroin to enhance his
sexual performance and that he becane addicted to it. Ms.

Torres, however, testified that she had never seen Petitioner use
drugs and was unaware of any heroin use on his part until the day
of his arrest. (6/23/98 Tr. at 100, 102; 6/24/98 Tr. at 20-21).
She did not and coul d not (because of the hearsay rule) support

Petitioner’s clains. Gven the nature of Petitioner’s unique
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defense to the drug trafficking charge, it is difficult to see
how it could have been presented at all absent his testinony.
Thus, counsel’s “failure” to introduce the defense through M.
Torres was a practical and legal inpossibility. This cannot
support a claimof ineffective assistance of counsel. There is
no need for an evidentiary hearing on this point as the record of
trial clearly supports this concl usion.

| nt roduction of Petitioner’s Prior Convictions

Petitioner clains that his counsel erred in introducing the
fact of his two prior felony convictions. He clains that such
evi dence was i nadm ssible and that his counsel was ineffective as
aresult. He has premsed his entire inadm ssibility argunent
upon Fed. R Evid. 404(b). He m sses the mark again.

Rul e 404(b) prohibits adm ssion of evidence of prior bad
acts where that evidence is admtted to prove the crimna
character or propensity to commt crinmes by the defendant. Such
evi dence which is found by the court to have special relevance to
an issue in the case such as know edge or intent and does not
i ncl ude “bad character or propensity as a necessary link in the

inferential chain” is adm ssi bl e. United States v. Varoudaki s,

233 F.3d 113, 118 (1st Cr. 2000)(quoting United States v.

Frankhauser, 80 F.3d 641, 648 (1st Cr. 1996)).

Petitioner’s defense rested squarely on |ack of know edge as

to the firearm possession and |ack of intent as to the drug
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charge. Here, counsel and Petitioner were on notice that the
government m ght seek to use the fact of the prior convictions
pursuant to both Rules 404(b) and 609. 1In order to go forward
with his defense of possession of the heroin strictly for

personal use, Petitioner had to put his intent at issue and could
only do so effectively through his own testinony. Counsel’s
decision to bring that material out on direct exam nation
blunted, at least in part, the negative inpact of that
information. By bringing it out on direct, the fact of the prior
convi ctions becane a mnor part of the case as a whol e, whereas
if counsel had failed to do so, those facts woul d have cone out
on cross-exam nation resulting in potentially nuch nore danage to
Petitioner’s case. As it happened, in considering the case in
totality, there was very little nention of either conviction by
either side either during the trial or during argunent. The

evi dence of Petitioner’s guilt on both counts was overwhel m ng
absent this evidence.

Petitioner also fails to acknow edge that his prior
convictions were proper grist for inpeachnent under Rule 609(a).
That rule permts the use of prior convictions to inpeach a
w tness or testifying defendant. “The prem se behind the rule is
that a witness who has previously been convicted of a felony, or
a crime invol ving dishonesty or a false statenent, is nore likely

tolie than is a person with a spotless past.” United States v.
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Norton, 26 F.3d 240, 243 (1st Cir. 1994). The Court properly
instructed the jury that Petitioner’s prior convictions could be
considered in determning his credibility. (6/25/98 Tr. at 87).
Thus counsel’s introduction of Petitioner’s prior
convictions did not anpbunt to ineffective assistance of counsel.
But, instead, reflected an understandi ng of the necessity of
bl unting potential inpeachnment material on direct exam nation so
as to deny the governnent a powerful tool on cross-exam nation.

Sent enci ng Factors and The Apprendi Deci sion

In Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U S. 466, _ , 120 S. C

2348, 2362-63 (2000), the Suprene Court held that, “[o]ther than
the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the
penalty for a crinme beyond the prescribed statutory maxi num nust
be submtted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonabl e doubt.”
Petitioner clains that the decision in Apprendi nmandates that the
sentenci ng gui delines adjustnents for obstruction of justice and
firearm possessi on be pl eaded and proven beyond a reasonabl e
doubt. He has displayed a conpl ete m sunderstandi ng of the |aw
Robertson’s conviction and sentence becane final prior to
the Supreme Court’s issuance of its decision in Apprendi. The
Petitioner now seeks relief pursuant to 8 2255. Therefore, the
threshold issue is whether the rule enunciated in Apprendi is
retroactively applicable to cases on coll ateral review.

In general, new constitutional rules of crimnal procedure
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are not applicable to cases which becane final before the new

rul es were announced. Teague v. Lane, 489 U. S. 288, 310

(1989) (O Connor, J., plurality opinion as to parts IV and V,

j oined by Rehnquist, C J., and Scalia and Kennedy, JJ.). Certain
narrow exceptions can apply. For instance, certain “watershed
rules” of crimnal procedure, i.e. those which “properly alter
our understanding of the bedrock procedural elenents that nust be
found to vitiate the fairness of a particular conviction,” are

subject to retroactive application. 1d. at 311 (quoting Mackey

v. United States, 401 U S. 667, 693 (1971) (Harlan, J.,

concurring in judgnents in part and dissenting in part)). In
order for the exception to apply, “the procedure at issue nust
inplicate the fundanental fairness of the trial.” 1d. at 312.
In addition, the exceptionis |[imted to “those new procedures
wi t hout which the |ikelihood of an accurate conviction is
seriously dimnished.” 1d. at 313.

Nei t her the Suprenme Court nor the United States Court of
Appeals for the First Grcuit has addressed whet her, under
Teaque, the rule enunciated in Apprendi is retroactively

applicable to cases on collateral review!? In fact, only two

! In Sustache-Rivera v. United States, 221 F.3d 8 (1st Cr
2000), the First Circuit addressed the separate issue of whether
Apprendi clains satisfy the statutory requirements for the filing
of successive 8 2255 notions. Section 2255 provides for |eave
to file a successive petition where, inter alia, the petition is
“based on a new rule of constitutional |aw that has been “nade
retroactive to cases on collateral review by the Suprene Court.”
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circuit courts have spoken on the issue. Both the Fourth and the
Ninth Crcuits have held that, under Teaque, the Apprendi rule is

not retroactively applicable. See United States v. Sanders,

F.3d __, 2001 W. 369719 (4th Cr. 2001); Jones v. Smth, 231 F. 3d

1227 (9th G r. 2000). However, even assum ng arguendo, that
Teaque permts collateral pursuit of Apprendi clains, Robertson’s
allegations are still wthout nerit.

Petitioner was indicted and found guilty of possessing
heroin with intent to distribute within 1000 feet of a school, in
violation of 21 U S.C. 88 841(a)(1)and 860(a); and of possessing
a firearmafter a previous felony conviction, in violation of 18
US C 8 922(g)(1). The applicable statutory penalty for the
heroin charge is determ ned pursuant to 21 U S.C. 88 841(b)(1)(0O
and 860(a). Wthout reference to drug quantity, 8 841(b)(1) (0O
aut horizes a maxi mumterm of inprisonnment of 20 years for a
schedule | controlled substance, such as heroin. Wen, as here,
a defendant conmts a violation of 8§ 841(a) after a prior
conviction of a felony drug offense has becone final, he is

subject to a maxi mumterm of 30-years’ inprisonnent.? 21 U S C

Under § 2255, the retroactivity requirenent is satisfied only
when the Court either explicitly declares the rule’'s collateral
avai lability or applies the rule in a collateral proceeding.
Sust ache-Rivera, 221 F.3d at 15 (quoting In re Vial, 115 F. 3d
1192, 1197 (4th Gr. 1997)). Thus, Apprendi clainms do not
satisfy 8 2255's successive petition requirenents. [d.

2 On Novenber 18, 1997, in accordance with 21 U.S.C. § 851,
t he governnent filed an information setting forth the fact of
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§ 841(b)(1)(C.

Additionally, 8 860(a) provides for enhanced penalties when
a defendant conmts a violation of 8§ 841(a)(1) within 1000 feet
of a school. Specifically, such a defendant is “subject to (1)
tw ce the maxi mum puni shnent aut horized by section 841(b) of this
title; and (2) at least twice any term of supervised rel ease
aut hori zed by section 841(b) of this title for a first offense.”
21 U.S.C. § 860.

The fact that Robertson had violated 8 860 was determ ned by
the jury beyond a reasonabl e doubt. Accordingly, on the heroin
charge, Robertson was subject to a maxi mumterm of i nprisonnment
of 60 years.® However, Robertson was sentenced to 137 nont hs of
i nprisonment on his heroin conviction, a sentence not only well
bel ow the 60 year statutory maxi mum but also |ess than the
| owest maxi mum penalty of 20 years specified in 8 841(b)(1)(0O

The statutory maxi mumterm of inprisonnent for possession of
a firearmby a convicted felon in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§

922(g) (1) is 10 years. 18 U S.C. 8 924(a)(2). The Court inposed
the statutory maxi num

Al t hough sentence was inposed in accordance with the

Petitioner’s prior state court felony drug conviction. Robertson
did not dispute the fact of this conviction.

3 This maximumis accurately reflected in the probation
departnent’s Septenber 15, 1998, addendumto the presentence
investigation report. The initial PSR incorrectly referenced a
40-year maxi mumterm
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appl i cabl e statutory maxi nrum for each count of conviction,
Robertson argues that the court’s inposition of sentence resulted
in an Apprendi violation. Specifically, Robertson chall enges
the court’s calcul ation of his guideline sentencing range.

In determning Petitioner’s total offense | evel under the
gui delines, the Court added two points for obstruction of
justice. See U S.S.G 8 3Cl.1. 1In addition, Robertson’s offense
| evel included a four-point increase for possession of a firearm
in connection with another felony offense. See U S . S. G 8§
2K2.1(b)(5). In substance, Petitioner alleges that, because
t hese offense-level increases resulted in an increased guideline
sentenci ng range and, accordingly, a |engthier sentence than he
ot herwi se m ght have received, the factual determ nations
underlying the of fense-1evel calculation should have been made by
the jury pursuant to the reasonabl e doubt standard rather than by
the sentencing court based upon a preponderance of the evidence
nor m

This assertion is wthout nerit. In fact, Petitioner’s
argunment is contrary to the First Circuit’s recent decisions
regardi ng the reach of Apprendi.

In US. v. Caba, 241 F. 3d 98 (1st G r. 2001), the appellant

chal | enged the sentence inposed follow ng his conviction on
cocai ne and heroin distribution charges. Drug quantity was anong

the findings made by the court in calculating Caba s guideline
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sentencing range. [d. at 100. |In determning drug quantity
under the guidelines, the district court included approxi mately
144 granms of crack cocaine which the jury had acquitted Caba of
possessing with intent to distribute. 1d.

Al t hough Caba received a sentence below the statutory
maxi mum he argued that the drug quantity finding should have
been made by the jury rather than the court. [d. at 100-01.
Caba asserted that Apprendi required a jury determ nation as to
drug quantity because the finding significantly increased his
gui del i ne sentencing range and, hence, his sentence. 1d. at 101.

The First Crcuit rejected Caba’ s expansive readi ng of

Appr endi .

By its owmn ternms, the holding in Apprendi applies
only when the disputed “fact” enlarges the
appl i cabl e statutory maxi nrum and the defendant’s
sent ence exceeds the original maxi mnum [ Apprendi,
120 S.Ct. at 2362-62]. For this reason, Apprendi
sinply does not apply to guideline findings
(including, inter alia, drug wei ght cal cul ations)
t hat increase the defendant’s sentence, but do
not elevate the sentence to a point beyond the

| onest applicable statutory maxi mum United
States v. LaFreniere, 236 F.3d 41, 50 (1st G
2001); United States v. Baltas, 236 F.3d 27, 41
(1st Cr. 2001); United States v. Keith, 230 F.3d
784, 787 (5th Gr. 2000) (per curiam, cert

deni ed, us _ , 121 S .. 1163 (2001);
United States v. Hernandez- Guardado, 228 F. 3d
1017, 1027 (9th Gr. 2000); United States v.
Aguayo- Del gado, 220 F.3d 926, 933 (8th Cr.)

cert. denied, us _ , 121 s. . 600
(2000). In other words, even after Apprendi, the
exi stence vel non of sentencing factors that
boost a defendant’s sentence but do not trip a
new statutory maxi mnumremain grist for the
district judge’s m |l under a preponderance- of -
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t he- evi dence st andard.

Caba, 241 F.3d at 101.

Simlarly, in United States v. Robinson, 241 F.3d 115 (1st
Cir. 2001), the Court of Appeals found no Apprendi violation
where the actual sentence inposed for cocai ne base rel ated
of fenses was bel ow the | owest statutory maxi mum applicable to
such offenses (i.e. 20 years pursuant to 8 841 (b)(1)(C). This
was so even though the district court, in applying the sentencing
gui del i nes, cal culated drug quantity based upon a preponderance
of the evidence standard and that finding adversely influenced
the length of the defendant’s sentence. Robinson, 241 F.3d at
1109.

Petitioner’s claimmust be rejected for these sane reasons.
On each count of conviction, Petitioner was sentenced bel ow or at
the applicable statutory maxi mum That the Court’s cal cul ation
of his offense |level and, accordingly, his guideline sentencing
range, may have resulted in a higher sentence bel ow the
applicable statutory limt does not trigger Apprendi concerns.
The facts upon which the Court based its guideline conputation
were properly determ ned by the Court based upon a preponderance
of the evidence. Apprendi does not restrict the sentencing
court’s discretion in inposing a sentence within the statutory

range. Robinson, 241 F.3d at 121 (quoting Apprendi, 530 U. S. at

_, 120 S.Ct. at 2358).
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The | ndi ct nent

Petitioner also argues that the recent holding in Apprendi
requires that the indictnment nust state both drug type and
amount. As the indictnment in this case clearly specified the
control | ed substance as heroin, the only issue is whether the
drug quantity needed to be stated in the indictnent. Petitioner
contends that drug quantity is an elenent of 21 U S.C. 88 841(a)
and (b) and thus an indictnment which fails to state the charged
anount is fatally defective. Petitioner’s nenorandum at 23. He
is clearly wong.

Section 841(a)(1) provides that it is unlawful for any
individual to distribute, possess with intent to distribute, etc.
a controll ed substance. There is no m ni mum anount required for
conviction and the case | aw has |ong recogni zed that it is
sufficient for the governnent to show that a detectable anmount is

possessed. United States v. Canpbell, 61 F.3d 976, 979-80 (1st

Gr. 1995).

Mor eover, Robertson’s sentence was not prem sed on
application of any statute that required a determ nation of drug
quantity. As noted above, Petitioner was charged with and
convicted of violation of 88 841(a)(1) and 860. That Robertson
possessed with intent to distribute heroin within 1000 feet of a
school was determned by the jury to have been proven beyond a

reasonabl e doubt. Accordingly, Robertson was subject to the
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enhanced penalties provided for under 88 841(b)(1)(C and 860,
including a termof 60 years of inprisonnent.

Nonet hel ess, Robertson was sentenced to a period of
i ncarceration which was well below the default statutory maxi num
of 20 years specified in 8 841(b)(1)(C. Section 8§ 841(b)(1)(C
does not require proof of any specific drug anount. Rather, that
subsection is triggered by conviction for any detectabl e anpbunt
of certain controlled substances, including heroin.

Accordi ngly, although drug anmount was relevant to the
Court’s application of the sentencing guidelines when cal cul ating
the appropriate sentence within the applicable statutory
limtations, drug quantity did not expose Robertson to a higher
statutory maxi mum sentence. Thus, Petitioner’s Apprendi claim
must be rej ect ed.

CONCLUSI ON

Petitioner’s notion to vacate, set aside or correct sentence
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2255 hereby is denied and dism ssed. The
Clerk shall enter judgment to that effect forthwth.

It is so ordered.

Ronal d R Lagueux
U S District Judge
Apri | , 2001
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